#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# CASE NO. 2010-CA-01253-SCT

JANICE C. COOPER

**APPELLANT** 

v.

**CAROLYN C. GUIDO** 

**APPELLEES** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Janice C. Cooper Natchez, MS (Appellant)
- Rick D. Patt, Esq.
   PATT LAW FIRM, PLLC
   Jackson, MS
   (Attorney for Appellant on Appeal)
- 3. Carolyn Cooper Guido Natchez, MS (Appellee)
- 4. W. Bruce Lewis, Esq.

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred in granting the June 3, 2010 Judgment by granting the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Appellee Carolyn C. Guido, Individually and as Executrix of the Estate of J. Wesley Cooper, Deceased, and in so granting said motion erred in finding that the Antenuptial Agreement at issue was a valid and binding contract as to preclude any challenge to a subsequent will;
- II. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the issues raised by Appellant in her Response to the Itemization of Facts Not Genuinely Disputed, when applying the law regarding antenuptial agreements, did not leave genuine issues of material fact which would preclude the granting of summary judgment;
- III. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Appellant's Will Contest, Petition to Renounce Last Will and Testament of J. Wesley Cooper and Motion to Void Deed of Gift should be dismissed with prejudice due to a finding by the Court that the Antenuptual Agreement precluded such contest.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in denying/overruling Appellant's Motion to Reconsider Judgment of June 3, 2010.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Procedural History

This case arises out of the probate of a December 13, 2007 will purported to be the Last Will and Testament of J. Wesley Cooper (R.E. Tab 1; R. 5) and the subsequent will contest filed on November 6, 2008 by Janice C. Cooper ("Appellant", "Janice Cooper" or "Mrs. Cooper"), the surviving spouse of J. Wesley Cooper, deceased ("Wesley Cooper" or "Mr.

Cooper"). (R.E. Tab 2; R. 15). The pleading was styled as a Will Contest, Request for Jury Trial, To Remove Letters Testamentary, For Removal of Carolyn Cooper Guido as Executrix, For Appointment of Independent Administrator, For Inventory and Disposition of Decedent's Assets in Possession of Carolyn Cooper Guido and/or Deborah Lynn Cooper Hill To Date and For Other Relief, Etc. In the Will Contest, Mrs. Cooper, through her attorney in the lower court proceedings, challenged the purported December 13, 2007 will on the basis that it was the result of undue influence exerted on him by his two adult daughters, Carolyn Cooper Guido ("Carolyn" or "Appellee") and Deborah Lynn Cooper Hill ("Deborah"), who were in a confidential relationship with their father. Additionally, Mrs. Cooper challenged her husband's testamentary capacity at the time of the will's execution, and noted that the daughters sought out the attorney for the will and physically transported him to their attorney for its execution. The two-page will cut out Mrs. Cooper entirely, and left everything to the two daughters.

In response, on November 25, 2008, Carolyn Cooper Guido, Individually and as Executrix of the Estate of J. Wesley Cooper, filed a **Response** (and Cross-Claim and Counterclaim) (R.E. Tab 3; R. 19). In this Response, Carolyn admitted that the will was executed at a time that Mr. Cooper was in declining health and had been prescribed drugs and medicine, and that he was eighty-three (83) years old at that time. In the Response, Carolyn incorporated a Motion to Dismiss, alleging that the Petition should be dismissed due to an Antenuptial Agreement signed by Mr. and Mrs. Cooper on a freely and voluntary basis on February 27, 1998 (the date of their wedding). In attachment "A" to the Response, Cross-Claim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the Will Contest (R. 15) and the Response (R. 19), the pleadings incorrectly identify December 13, 2007 as the date of Mr. and Mrs. Cooper's wedding, when in fact, it is uncontested that that the actual date of the marriage was a decade before, on February 27, 1998. The purported will at issue was executed

and Counterclaim, Appellee inserted the Antenuptial Agreement of J. Wesley Cooper and Janice S. Cooper [sic]. (R.E. Tab 4, R. 28). Appellee Carolyn Guido contended that section 4 of the agreement contained a provision wherein each party shall not contest the other's will.

On November 26, 2008, Janice Cooper filed her **Renunciation of Will** as surviving spouse. (R.40). Appellee filed her **Response to Renunciation of Will and Countermotion** (R. 42), challenging the ability of her step-mother to file a renunciation due to the same language in the Antenuptial Agreement regarding challenges to the will of the other.

Appellant Janice Cooper filed her Motion to Strike Exhibit "A" to Counterclaim and Cross-Claim of Carolyn Cooper Guido, Individually and as Executrix of Estate of J. Wesley Cooper (R.E. Tab 5; R. 56). In this pleading, Mrs. Cooper asserted that the purported Antenuptial Agreement dated February 27, 2010 (the same date as the marriage) was null and void. Mrs. Cooper asserted that the document was only signed under duress, and was not entered into freely and voluntarily, as her to-be-husband took her to his attorney's office the morning of the wedding to sign the document, and they had to be in St. Francisville, LA (approximately sixty miles away) for the wedding ceremony to be held at 3:30 p.m. that day. Among many reasons she gave for this position, she asserted that she had been in Texas until the late afternoon of February 26<sup>th</sup> (the day before) and had never seen the document before the morning of her wedding. She was hurried into signing the document, and did not have the opportunity to employ her own counsel or have the document, and its attendant legal ramifications, explained to her.

On December 22, 2010 Janice Cooper filed her **Motion to Void Deed of Gift**, requesting the August 7, 2008 deed of gift of marital home to Mr. Cooper's daughters (executed less than

on December 13, 2007.

three weeks before Mr. Cooper's death) to be void. (R.E. Tab 6; R. 60). On December 23, 2008, Appellant Janice Cooper filed her **Answer of Mrs. Janice C. Cooper, Etc.** (R. 67), wherein she also filed counterclaims and a cross-claim against the Executrix, claiming homestead rights and widow survivorship rights of the property and denying the remedy of partition sought by the Executrix. Carolyn Guido responded with her **Motion to Dismiss this Counterclaim**. (R. 72) and **Response to Motion** [to Void Deed of Gift]. (R. 74), and **Response to Motion to Strike** (R. 92), denying the relief sought, and again repeating that Mrs. Cooper had given up any rights to challenge the disposition of any property by signing the Antenuptial Agreement.

On March 15, 2010, Appellee Carolyn Guido filed her **Motion for Summary Judgment**, incorporating prior pleadings and attaching excerpts from the Deposition of Janice Cooper. (R.E. Tab 7 [without attachments]; R. 94). Carolyn also filed her **Itemization of Facts Not Genuinely Disputed** (R.E. Tab 8; R. 179) on the same date.

On April 29, 2010, Appellant Janice Cooper filed her Sworn Response to Itemization of Facts Not Genuinely Disputed of Mrs. Carolyn Cooper Guido. (R.E. Tab 9; R. 211), wherein Mrs. Cooper set forth the facts by which she was pressured and coerced into signing the Antenuptial Agreement, and signed the same under duress without having her own legal counsel or the ability to change or negotiate terms of the document on the morning of her wedding.

After a hearing on or about May 13, 2010, the Chancellor signed and had cause to enter a two-page **Judgment** on June 3, 2010 (R.E. Tab 10; R. 221), ruling that the issues raised by Mrs. Cooper in her Response to the Itemization of Facts rise to a dispute of material facts, and ruled that the Will Contest, Petition to Renounce the Will and Motion to Set Aside Deed of Gift were filed contrary to the prohibitions contained in the February 27, 1998 Antenuptial Agreement, and were dismissed with prejudice.

Janice Cooper filed her Motion to Set Aside Judgment Filed June 3, 2010 (R.E. Tab 11; R. 223), asserting that the Court erred in determining that Janice Cooper waived her right to contest or renounce the will and other distributions, and that the Antenuptial Agreement was executed solely by the deceased with no input from Mrs. Cooper, as she was put under duress in being presented with this restrictive document just hours before her wedding and without the advice of her choice of legal counsel. Carolyn Guido filed her Response to Motion to Set Aside Judgment of June 3, 2010 (R. 227), asserting that all matters had been addressed in prior hearing. After a hearing on June 30, 2010, the Chancellor, on June 30, 2010, entered a one-page Judgment Overruling Motion to Reconsider Judgment of June 3, 2010 (R.E. Tab 12; R. 234), denying the Mrs. Janice Cooper any relief and denying the Motion to Reconsider the granting of the summary judgment which dismissed all of her claims purportedly prohibited by the Antenuptial Agreement. A copy of the court reporter's transcript of both the May 13, 2010 and June 30, 2010 hearings is attached hereto. (R.E. Tab 13; R. Volume 4 of 4).

Appellant Janice Cooper timely filed her Notice of Appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court on July 29, 2010. (R. 235).

#### B. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues

Before arriving in Natchez, Mississippi the day before her February 27, 1998 wedding, Mrs. Janice Cooper was a resident of Arlington, Texas, and in fact, had not even been to Natchez for the past twelve years. (Deposition of Janice Cooper, p. 8, attached hereto as Ex. "A"). She had been conducting a long-distance relationship with J. Wesley Cooper, and he had asked her to come to Natchez to live with him as his wife. She arrived on the afternoon of February 26, 1998, the day before her wedding the next afternoon in St. Francisville, LA (about sixty miles away). On the next day, just hours before having to get ready and travel to her 3:30 p.m. wedding in St.

Francisville, Mr. Cooper took his bride-to-be by his lawyer's office. At this lawyer's office, Mrs. Cooper was handed an 11-page, single-spaced Antenuptial Agreement (R.E. Tab 4, R. 28) to sign on the spot. She had never before seen this document, had no input in its creation, and did not know anything about it until that morning. (R.E. Tab 8; R. 212). The document and the document's title even had her middle initial as "S", when her middle, maiden or married name never began with an "S". In fact, a line was left blank on the first page identifying her first husband's name, and a blank was contained on the second page for the name of an attorney who was to offer her "independent legal advice". (R.E. Tab 4, R. 28-29). Obviously, Mrs. Cooper was never shown this document beforehand and consulted as to its drafting, as she surely would have informed the drafter of her middle initial and the names for the blanks. Mrs. Cooper had never previously met nor talked with attorney Donald G. Ogden, whose name was written in the blank upon arrival that morning, before she appeared at the law office that morning, and she did not arrange to meet him there. He was presumably provided by her husband, and she never met or talked with him after that morning. He did not send her a bill for any services. Mrs. Cooper testified that she was not aware of the rights that she was giving up by signing the document, as she did not have time to even read the entire thing. She was only given about fifteen minutes to be there, and she was in a rush to get dressed to meet her out-of-town family coming in for a wedding at 3:30 p.m. that day at a location more than an hour away. Mrs. Cooper never even received a copy of the Agreement after she signed it. (R.E. Tab 13; page 34-35 of Vol. 4 & Deposition of Janice Copper, Ex. "A", pp. 48-9). In fact, at no time was Mrs. Cooper even alone with Mr. Ogden, as her husband and his attorney (and staff) were present with her the entire time. (R.E. Tab 13; page 36 of Vol. 4). Mr. Ogden never read over the provisions of the Agreement with her, and his only work was to answer a couple of questions that she had. (Deposition of Janice Copper, Ex. "A", p. 53).

Faced with the prospect of signing the Antenuptial document on one hand, or having having the wedding cancelled mere hours before the ceremony and the morning after arriving in Natchez, Mrs. Cooper did sign the Antenuptial Agreement, but with no understanding of the legal ramifications. The inclusion of language stating that she had retained an attorney for "independent legal advice" was an disingenuous at best. The couple did get married that afternoon, and were husband and wife until Mr. Cooper became very ill and died on August 26, 2008. In that time, Mrs. Cooper was aware that Mr. Cooper had two other, prior wills which were in existence before the December 13, 2007 will at question in this case. (R.E. Tab 13; page 38 of Vol. 4).

At the time of the marriage and thereafter, Mr. Cooper had two adult daughters from a prior marriage, namely Carolyn Cooper Guido and Deborah Lynn Cooper Hill. When their father became very sick, and after having been married to Janice Cooper for almost ten years, the daughters took their father to an attorney's office to execute a new will, which was a two-page document that completely cut his spouse out and gave the two daughters everything. (R.E. Tab 1; R. 5). In her Response to the Will Contest, Carolyn admitted that the will was executed at a time that Mr. Cooper was in declining health and had been prescribed drugs and medicine, and that he was eighty-three (83) years old at that time. (R.E. Tab 3; R. 20). Additionally, just three weeks before the death of her husband, unbeknownst to Mrs. Cooper, the daughters arranged for their Father to transfer the marital home to the daughters via a Deed of Gift. However, Mrs. Cooper retained homestead rights and even showed up on the tax rolls for the property along with her husband, as the property was listed as homestead property. (R.E. Tab 6; R. 63-66). Even though such property was on the tax rolls as receiving homestead credit.

Carolyn Cooper filed in her Response to the will contest a cross-claim stating that Mrs. Cooper waived all her rights to homestead protections by signing the Antenuptial Agreement. (R.E. Tab 3; R. 24)

Therefore, the stage was set in Shakespearian fashion for the two daughters to divide the property of their father, which the added twist of completely cutting out his wife from any rights to distribution from the Estate of her husband of over a decade. When Mr. Cooper passed away, Carolyn filed for probate of the Estate. When Mrs. Cooper rightfully attempted to contest this new (to her) will on the basis of undue influence and lack of testamentary capacity and to exercise her statutory right to renounce it, and to contest the Deed of Gift of the marital home, the Executrix daughter countered with the Antenuptial Agreement that Mrs. Cooper has signed a decade prior (without receiving a copy), and which was signed on the morning of her wedding after being presented it on a take-it-or-leave-it basis. Mrs. Cooper never revisited the Agreement, as she would not even conceive that there were provisions that would prevent her from asserting her rights as a surviving spouse in the event that her husband was unduly influenced due to his advanced age and would cut her out of everything.

For these reasons and those set out in further in this Brief of Appellant, Janice Cooper hereby contends that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in this matter, and the proper remedy of this Court is to reverse the ruling of the Chancellor and remand for proceedings whereby Mrs. Cooper may proceed on her pleadings to challenge the will or renounce it entirely and take her statutory share, to void the Deed of Gift at issue, and to proceed on other issues which may have been affected by the granting of the summary judgment.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court erred in granting summary judgment to the Carolyn Guido, and in so doing finding that: 1) the Antenuptial Agreement at issue was a valid and binding contract; 2) the issues raised by Appellant in her Response to the Itemization of Facts Not Genuinely Disputed, when applying the law regarding antenuptial agreements, did not leave genuine issues of material fact which would preclude the granting of summary judgment; and 3) finding that Appellant's Will Contest, Petition to Renounce Last Will and Testament of J. Wesley Cooper and Motion to Void Deed of Gift should be dismissed with prejudice. The Chancery Court also erred in denying/overruling Appellant's Motion to Reconsider Judgment of June 3, 2010.

The Appellee, Carolyn Guido, was faced at the lower court with a substantial hurdle to overcome in her Motion for Summary Judgment, and was required to show that there was no genuine issue of material fact to allow a hearing on the issues brought up by Mrs. Cooper. The Executrix filed her pleadings to short-circuit the proceeding before the Chancellor would even hear evidence on the issue of the actions of the two daughters and whether or not they exercised undue influence over their father in the drafting and execution of the will and the transfer of the marital home. Appellant Janice Cooper contends that the Appellee Carolyn Guido did not reach that standard so that summary judgment was not proper.

The Court erred in determining there were no genuine issues of fact as to the dismissal of her Will Contest, Motion to Set Void Deed of Gift and Renunciation of Will. Janice Cooper presented evidence that the Antenuptial Agreement should be declared void and not considered in the proceedings below, as requested by her filing to strike it from the consideration of the Court. Although the record of the lower court does not contain a specific finding of fact as to Janice Cooper's Motion to Strike Exhibit "A" to Counterclaim and Cross-Claim of Carolyn

Cooper Guido, Individually and as Executrix of Estate of J. Wesley Cooper (R.E. Tab 5; R. 56), it is clear from the ruling of the Chancellor that he considered the issue and ruled that the Antenuptial Agreement would be considered. If fact, the consideration of that Agreement is the entire basis of the Chancellor's ruling as to summary judgment.

The ruling of the Chancellor to consider the Antenuptial Agreement and use it as the basis of his Summary Judgment ruling was an abuse of discretion and clear error. It is clear that the Agreement was entered into while under duress and without the benefit or opportunity to obtain proper legal counsel to review. The document itself proves this point, as there were blanks in the document that show that Janice Cooper had no input in its formation. Without the Antenuptial Agreement being held to be a valid, enforceable contract as to the no-contest provision, there would be no prohibition against presenting evidence concerning whether the deceased daughters exerted undue influence upon their father in having him change his will and transfer the marital home to them before his death and while he was in a vulnerable and easily-manipulative condition.

The crux of the matter, and the key question from which all issues flow, is whether the Chancellor erred in finding that the Antenuptial Agreement in question was a valid and enforceable contract, as a whole and in regards to the no-contest provisions. If the Chancellor abused his discretion in determining this factual issue, then such no-contest provision in the Antenuptial Agreement could not then be the basis for the finding that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to the Will Contest, Renunciation of the Will, and Motion to Void Deed of Gift. It is clear from the record that the only reason that the Chancellor did not permit the proceedings to continue was his decision that the Antenuptial Agreement's no-contest provision precluded these claims. Take away this document which was clearly procedurally

unconscionable and there would be no impediment for Mrs. Cooper to proceed to challenge and/or renounce the will and have a hearing on the questionable methods and circumstances surrounding the obtaining of this document and the Deed of Gift.

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