IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-CA-01253-SCT

JANICE C. COOPER

APPELLANT

V.

CAROLYN C. GUIDO

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Janice C. Cooper Natchez, Mississippi (Appellant)
- Rick D. Patt, Esq.
 Patt Law Firm, PLLC
 Jackson, Mississippi
 (Attorney for Appellant on Appeal)
- Daniel J. O'Beirne, Esq.
 Natchez, Mississippi
 (Attorney for Appellant in Lower Court)

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancellor correctly granted summary judgment to Carolyn Guido, Individually and as Executrix of the Estate of J. Wesley Cooper, by finding a valid and binding Antenuptial Agreement executed by J. Wesley Cooper and Mrs. Janice C. Cooper. The Court stated its finding in its bench opinion and entered a Judgment finding that the Antenuptial Agreement was freely and voluntarily executed in a procedurally correct manner and then entered Judgment based on that summary judgment dismissing with prejudice the attempt by Janice C. Cooper to contest the Last Will and Testament of J. Wesley Cooper, or in the alternative, to renounce the Last Will and Testament of J. Wesley Cooper and to also attack the intervivos disposition of property evidenced by a deed from J. Wesley Cooper to his only two (2) children, namely, Carolyn C. Guido and Deborah Lynn C. Hill.

The Chancellor found no material facts in dispute which would preclude the entry of summary judgment because it was undisputed that Janice C. Cooper provided input and information into the formation of the Antenuptial Agreement, knew and understood at the time she went to the attorney's office that she was going for the purpose of entering into an antenuptial agreement, that she freely and voluntarily, and without duress, executed the Antenuptial Agreement and lodged no protest regarding the Antenuptial Agreement prior to the execution of the agreement, during the meeting at the attorney's office where the agreement was executed, for ten (10) years after the execution of the agreement, including to her own independent counsel during divorce proceedings between her and J. Wesley Cooper, and did not lodge any protest or complaint concerning the validity of the Antenuptial Agreement until after the death of J. Wesley Cooper. The Court found that there was insufficient or no evidence under

Rule 56 to preclude the entry of summary judgment and found that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact that would preclude the entry of judgment as a matter of law.

It is clear from the evidence and the sworn testimony of Mrs. Cooper that she executed the agreement at a time when she was under no duress. It is also clear from the evidence that Mrs. Cooper provided input into the contract and even initialed a paragraph of the contract that indicated that Donald G. Ogden was representing her and that she fully understood and appreciated all of the conditions and consequences of the contract. The provisions contained in the Antenuptial Agreement are clear and unambiguous and specifically protect against the prospects of litigation such as those attempted by Mrs. Cooper in filing a will contest, a renunciation of the will, and a motion to set aside a deed executed by Mr. Cooper during his lifetime to his children.

--

Although the law is clear that antenuptial agreements, as other contracts are valid and enforceable in the state of Mississippi, this Court should reaffirm in the same strong language utilized in Ware and Mabus v. Mabus, that parties to a contract cannot admit that they signed it, accepted benefits under the contract, and then seek to challenge or deny that the contract expresses the agreement she made or to allow her to admit that she signed it but did not read it and know its stipulations. Such a principle of law as urged by the Appellant would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts in the state of Mississippi. The Appellee respectfully urges the Court to affirm the decision of the Chancellor and determine that he did not abuse discretion, was not manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or that he applied an incorrect legal standard.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review of Chancellor's Ruling

The Appellee agrees that the Appellant has set forth the correct standard of review and agrees that before this Court should overturn this Chancellor's decision, it must determine that there has been an abuse of discretion or that the Chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or that an erroneous legal standard was applied.

B. Issue of Antenuptial Agreement

The entire Antenuptial Agreement executed by these parties is contained in the record, inclusive of exhibits, at pages 132-142. The parties had the standard language of most contracts in Section 12 which provides that the agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the heirs, executors and administrators of the parties. (R. 138). One of the considerations stated by the parties for the contract was Paragraph 5.5 of the contract which provided that it was the mutual desire of the parties that the Antenuptial Agreement and Contract control so that the parties could avoid any future litigation. (R. 137). However, as soon as the lips of J. Wesley Cooper were sealed by death, Janice Cooper elects to institute litigation by filing a will contest in the Chancery Court of Adams County, Mississippi, and subsequently filing a renunciation of the will in the event the will contest is not successful. She then later files a Motion to Void the Intervivos Deed whereby J. Wesley Cooper conveyed certain property in Adams County, Mississippi, to his only two (2) children, Carolyn C. Guido, and Deborah Lynn C. Hill.

Section 4.2 of the Antenuptial Agreement specifically provides that "... each of the parties hereto agrees to refrain from any action or proceeding that may tend to void or nullify to any extent or any particular the terms of any such will of the other; and forever waives, releases, and relinquishes any right or claim which he or she now has or may have or shall have, pursuant to the provisions of the laws of the state of Mississippi, as said laws may exist now or hereafter, to elect to take in contravention of the terms of any will of the other, including in the Last Will, now executed or which may be executed hereafter, or any disposition of property made by the other during his or her lifetime." (R. 135).

An early provision in Paragraph 4.2 provided as follows:

This provision is intended to and shall serve as a waiver and release of both Parties' right of election to take against the other's Will in accordance with any statutory requirement." (R. 135).

These provisions of the Antenuptial Agreement are clear and unambiguous contractual provisions that were entered into by both parties where by both parties agreed not to contest the will of the other, not to renounce the will of the other, and not to challenge any lifetime disposition of property of the other. Mrs. Cooper, by her pleadings in this cause, sought to do all three.

Section 1.1 of the Antenuptial Agreement provides as follows:

Each Party has reviewed this Agreement in detail with his or her respective legal counsel and is entering into this Agreement freely, voluntarily, and with full knowledge of its contents and consequences. (R. 133).

Section 1.4. of the Contract and Agreement provides as follows:

1.4. All matter embodied herein, as well as all questions pertinent hereto, have been fully and satisfactorily explained to each Party by his or her respective legal counsel; each Party has given due consideration to all such matters in question; and each Party clearly understands and consents to all of the provisions hereof.

C. The Chancellor Correctly Decided that the Antenuptial Agreement Was Freely and Voluntarily Executed and Correctly Enforced the Provisions of the Antenuptial Agreement by Dismissing the Will Contest, the Renunciation Of the Will and Motion to Void the Lifetime Disposition Of Property By Deed.

After reviewing the Motion for Summary Judgment and all of the evidence offered in support thereof and in opposition thereof, the Court made its finding based upon the undisputed material facts as follows:

There is nothing before the Court to indicate that it was not voluntary. It may not have been a wise decision, but there is nothing before the court to indicate that it was anything other than voluntary. There is nothing before the Court to indicate that it was unconscionable in anyway and the fact remains that this was signed in 1998 and apparently, according to the pleadings, according to her sworn deposition testimony, that the first time anything ever came up in court with regard to Ms. Cooper expressing some problem or concern with the agreement is once the estate was opened, and she filed some pleadings at that time indicating that she should not be held to the Agreement but from a legal standpoint the Court has no choice but to say that, but to find that it was a valid Antenuptial Agreement, that there was nothing procedurally wrong with the execution of it. There are no facts in dispute that would indicate that it was anything wrong with the procedural execution of the document. (R.E. 13, p. 42).

The Court later in its findings and bench opinion stated that based upon the undisputed facts the Antenuptial Agreement was a valid agreement and that Mrs. Cooper would be bound by the terms of that agreement. (R.E. 13, pp. 43-44). The Court thereafter entered its Judgment denying the Motion to Reconsider the Summary Judgment entered in this cause. (R. 234). The summary judgment entered in this case specifically found that the Antenuptial Agreement was a valid and binding contract and that the issues raised by Mrs. Janice Cooper did not rise to a dispute of material fact which would preclude or prevent the entry of summary judgment, and the

Chancellor dismissed the will contest, the renunciation of the will, and the motion to set aside the deed with prejudice. (R. 221-222).

Appellee respectfully submits to the Court that an antenuptial agreement is a contract, and that an antenuptial agreement in Mississippi is just as enforceable as any other contract. Smith v. Smith, 656 So.2d 1143, 1147 (Miss. 1995); Mabus v. Mabus, 890. So.2d 806, 818 (Miss. 2003); Estate of Hensley v. Estate of Hensley, 524 So.2d 325, 327 (Miss. 1998). Further, the construction of the contract and antenuptial agreement can be a matter of law. City of Grenada v. Whitten Aviation, Inc., 755 So.2d 1208, 1214 (Miss. Ct. App. 1990); Martin v. Fly Timber, 925 So.2d 691, 695 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); G.B. "Boots" Smith Corp. V. Cobb, 860 S0.2d 774, 777 (Miss. 2003); Parkerson v. Smith, 817 So.2d 529, 532 (Miss. 2002); Mississippi State Highway Commission v. Patterson Enters., Ltd., 627 So.2d 261,263 (Miss. 1993). It also a principle of law that whether or not a person reads all, any portion of, or none of a document and contract that he or she signs, that he or she is bound by the contents of the contract as a matter of law. Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 850 So.2d 78, 92 (Miss. 2003); Cherry v. Anthony, 501 So.2d 416, 419 (Miss. 1987); Ballard v. Commercial Bank of DeKalb, 991 So.2d 1201, 1206-1207 (Miss. 2008); Oak v. Sellers, 953 So.2d 1077, 1082 (Miss. 2007); Andrews v. Ellis, 887 So.2d 175, 180 (Miss. 2004).

The Supreme Court in the <u>Ballard</u> case summarizes distinctly the holding in these cases when it states:

To permit a party when sued on a written contract to admit that he signed it but to deny that it expresses the agreement he made or to

allow him to admit that he signed it but did not read it or know its stipulations would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts.

991 So.2d at 1207 (Miss. 2008).

In the case before this Court, Mrs. Cooper claims that she did not read all of the agreement or understand or know all of its stipulations. Two of Mrs. Cooper's bases for attacking the Antenuptial Agreement are that she was hurried to sign the agreement and that she did not read and understand the contract she signed. (Depo. J. Cooper, pp. 49 and 53, R. 174, 175). Notwithstanding these defenses and allegations, the law is clear that in Mississippi a person is charged with knowing the contents of any document he or she executes. J. R. Watkins Co. v. Runnels, 172 So.2d 567, 571 (Miss. 1965). The Supreme Court has been steadfast in stating as a matter of law that a person cannot avoid a written contract which he or she has entered into on the ground that he or she did not read it or have it read to him or her. Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719, 726 (Miss. 2002).

Like Mrs. Cooper, Patti Ware in the case of <u>Ware v. Ware</u>, So.3rd 271 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008), claimed that she was somewhat pressured into signing the agreement, did not have an opportunity to read the agreement, or to have an attorney review it before she signed it, but the court there remained firm to judicial precedent in reaffirming that the a person is under an obligation to read a contract before signing it and will not as a general rule be heard to complain thereafter.

Mrs. Cooper seems to also claim that she did not have the benefit of effective counsel.

(Depo. J. Cooper, pg. 53, R. 175). This argument also fails as a matter of law. Even if Mr.

Donald G. Ogden, attorney representing Mrs. Cooper, did not provide effective counsel to Mrs.

Cooper, which is strongly denied, there is no requirement to have a valid antenuptial agreement that there be any independent counsel. Mabus v. Mabus, 890 So.2d 821 (Miss. 2003); Ware v. Ware, 7 So.3rd 271, 277 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Furthermore, the Ware court provides authority at page 277 of the opinion for the principle of law that Mrs. Cooper cannot be heard to complain about counsel when the very agreement she executed, the Antenuptial Agreement, provides that she has sought and received independent legal advice from Mr. Ogden, reviewed the agreement in detail with counsel, and entered into the agreement freely, voluntarily, and with full knowledge of its contents and consequences. (Antenuptial Agreement, par. 1.1, R. 133). She further acknowledged over her signature that all matters embodied in the Antenuptial Agreement were fully and satisfactorily explained to her by her attorney and that she clearly understood and consented to all of the provisions in the contract. (Antenuptial Agreement, p. 2, par. 1.4, R. 133).

In <u>Ware</u>, Mrs. Ware did not have any counsel, but the antenuptial agreement she signed stated that she did have counsel. There the Court had this to say:

It is Patti's contention that the agreement is invalid because it provides that she obtained advice from an attorney when she had not done so. Patti cannot argue that the chancellor erred in upholding an agreement that she signed on the basis that the agreement reached a conclusion that was not true when, had she read the agreement, she would have discovered that it contained such a statement. 7 So.3rd at 277.

In the present case, Mrs. Cooper admitted that she was not threatened or under duress to sign the Antenuptial Agreement. (Depo. J. Cooper, pg. 36, R. 168).

Several times in the brief of Mrs. Cooper, she alludes to the fact that she had no input into the formation of the Antenuptial Agreement. However, she admitted to not only providing information prior to the date the Antenuptial Agreement was executed, but she also provided

information on the day the Antenuptial Agreement was finalized prior to execution. She also makes an argument in her brief about the fairness of the Antenuptial Agreement, but a careful review of the Antenuptial Agreement clearly discloses that the Antenuptial Agreement was binding on both parties, and both parties had agreed to be bound by the same conditions, restrictions and conditions after a complete and full disclosure. In Mabus v. Mabus, 890 So.2d 819, Julie Mabus claimed that the financial schedules attached to the antenuptial agreement were not disclosed to her, and that there was not a full and fair disclosure prior to the execution of the antenuptial agreement. To the contrary, in the case now before the Court, Mrs. Cooper was completely aware of the financial disclosures and even contributed information for her disclosures both before the date of the contract and on the date of the execution of the contract. (Depo. J. Cooper, pp. 26-27, R. 161 and 162).

The Antenuptial Agreement itself states, above the signature of Mrs. Cooper, that there has been no concealment, and that there was full disclosure, such as to provide to each, a thorough understanding of the property held by the other. (Antenuptial Agreement, p. 2, par. 1.3., R. 133). Mrs. Cooper further acknowledged in writing that she clearly understood and consented to all provisions of the contract. (Antenuptial Agreement, p. 2, par. 1.4., R. 133). Mrs. Cooper's complaints of fairness are contradicted by the very terms of the Antenuptial Agreement that she signed and which she seeks now to attack. The law pertaining to such allegations is clear as set out in <u>Ballard v. Commercial Bank of DeKalb</u>, 991 So.2d 1201 (Miss. 2008).

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